#### RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

**CLERK'S OFFICE** 

6/2/2017 4:45 pm

NO. 94592-6

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 33556-9-III

## COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

JUDITH Q. CHAVEZ, KATHLEEN CHRISTIANSON, ORALIA GARCIA, AND MARRIETTA JONES, individually, and on behalf of all similarly-situated registered nurses employed by Our Lady of Lourdes Hospital at Pasco, d/b/a Lourdes Medical Center,

Petitioners,

V.

OUR LADY OF LOURDES HOSPITAL AT PASCO, d/b/a Lourdes Medical Center, AND JOHN SERLE, individually and in his official capacity as an agent and officer of Lourdes Medical Center,

Respondents.

B.	Issues Presented for Review		
C.	Statement of the Case2		
D.	Argument5		
	1.	The trial court abused its discretion by failing to liberally construe the requirements of CR 23 and Washington wage-and-hour law in favor of class certification, and the COA committed reversible error by affirming the trial court despite the trial court's application of erroneous legal standards	
	2.	The trial court committed reversible error by failing to adequately articulate its reasons for ruling that the Nurses failed to meet CR 23's requirements	
	3.	The COA committed reversible error when it "assumed" the trial court resolved evidentiary conflicts in a light most favorable to the Hospital and then "deferred" to those purported findings even though they were not articulated in the trial court's class-certification order	
	4.	The trial court and COA committed reversible error by failing to explain which element of the substantive claim purportedly required individualized proof such that the case cannot be managed as a class action	
	5.	The COA committed reversible error when it held that the class-action procedure is not superior in this case because the individual nurses can pursue wage claims for missed resperiods in <i>small claims court</i>	

	6.	The trial court committed reversible error by requiring the Nurses to move for summary judgment before ruling on the motion for class certification and by considering absent class members' claims on the merits, and the COA committed reversible error by endorsing this irregular and unauthorized procedure
	7.	The COA committed reversible error when it concluded that this case cannot be certified as a hybrid CR 23(b)(1) or (b)(2 class as a matter of law because <i>the Nurses</i> also seel monetary relief under CR 23(b)(3)
E.	Conc	lusion20

#### Table of Cases and Authorities

#### Cases

Anderson v. Mt. Clemens Pottery Co., 328 U.S. 680 (1946)16
Brown v. Brown, 6 Wn. App. 249, 492 P.2d 581 (1971)6, 13
Champagne v. Thurston County, 163 Wn.2d 69, 178 P.3d 936 (2008)6, 7
Demetrio v. Sakuma Bros. Farms, Inc., 183 Wn.2d 649, 355 P.2d 258 (2015)
Drinkwitz v. Alliant Techsystems, 140 Wn.2d 291, 996 P.2d 582 (2000)6
Edwards v. First American Corp., 798 F.3d 1172 (9th Cir. 2015)7, 11
Ellerman v. Centerpoint Prepress, Inc., 143 Wn.2d 514, 22 P.3d 795 (2001)
Epstein v. MCA, Inc., 179 F.3d 641 (9 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1999)19
Frese v. Snohomish County, 129 Wn. App. 659, 120 P.3d 89 (2005)7, 8
Hill v. Garda CL Northwest, Inc., 198 Wn. App. 326, P.3d
In re Flag Telecom Holdings, Ltd. Securities Litigation, 574 F.3d 29 (2 <sup>nd</sup> Cir. 2009)
In re Monumental Life Ins. Co., 365 F.3d 408 (5 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2004)11
Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local 46 v. City of Everett, 146 Wn.2d 29, 42 P.3d 1265 (2002)
Iverson v. Snohomish County, 117 Wn. App. 618, 72 P.3d 772 (2003)7, 8
Miller v. Farmer Bros. Co., 115 Wn. App. 815, 820, 64 P.2d 49

Moeller v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash., 173 Wn.2d 264, 267 P.3d 998 (2011)6
Moore v. Health Care Authority, 181 Wn.2d 299, 332 P.3d 461 (2014)16
Nelson v. Appleway Chevrolet, Inc., 160 Wn.2d 173, 157 P.3d 847 (2007)13, 19
Oda v. State, 111 Wn. App. 79, 44 P.3d 8 (2002)9, 11
Pasco v. PERC, 119 Wn.2d 504, 833 P.2d 381 (1992)11
Pellino v. Brink's, Inc., 164 Wn. App. 668, 267 P.3d 383 (2011)7, 14
Seattle Prof'l Eng'g Employees Ass'n v. Boeing Co., 139 Wn.2d 824, 991 P.2d 1126 (2000)
Sitton v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 116 Wn. App. 245, 63 P.3d 198 (2003)
Smith v. Berr Process Corp., 113 Wn. App. 306, 54 P.3d 665 (2002)13
Tardiff v. Knox County, 365 F.3d 1 (1st Cir. 2004)11
Tapper v. Employment Sec. Dept., 122 Wn.2d 397, 858 P.2d 494 (1993)11
Tyson Foods, Inc. v. Bouaphakeo, U.S, 136 S. Ct. 1036 (2016)16
Wash. State Nurses Ass'n v. Sacred Heart Med. Ctr., 175 Wn.2d 822, 287 P.3d 516 (2012)
United Food & Commercial Workers Union Local 1001 v. Mutual Benefit Life Ins. Co., 84 Wn. App. 47, 925 P.2d 212 (1996)
Weeks v. Chief of State Patrol, 96 Wn.2d 893, 639 P.2d 732 (1982)7
Weston v. Emerald City Pizza, LLC, 137 Wn. App. 164, 151 P.3d 1090 (2007)
White v. Salvation Army, 118 Wn. App. 272, 75 P.3d 990 (2003)

Wingert v. Yellow Freight Systems, Inc., 146 Wn.2d 841, 50 P.3d 256 (2002)7
Woodruff v. Spence, 76 Wn. App. 207, 210, 883 P.2d 936 (1994)12
Codes & Statutes
WAC 296-126-0027
WAC 296-126-092
Rules
CR 236, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 17
CR 303
CR 5212
GR 14.16
RAP 13.45, 6, 9, 14, 16, 19, 20
Other Authorities
Wash Dep't of Labor & Indus. Admin. Policy ES.C.67

#### I. Petition for Review by the Washington Supreme Court

#### A. Identity of Petitioners and Citation to Court of Appeals Decision

The Petitioners are Judith Q. Chavez, Kathleen Christianson, Oralia Garcia, and Marrietta Jones (the "Nurses"). The Nurses seek review of the February 9, 2017 Opinion issued by the Washington Court of Appeals, Division III ("COA"), affirming the denial of class-certification.

#### B. Issues Presented for Review

ISSUE ONE: Did the trial court abuse its discretion by failing to liberally construe the requirements of CR 23 and Washington wage-and-hour law in favor of class certification, and did the Court of Appeals commit reversible error by affirming the trial court despite the trial court's application of erroneous legal standards?

ISSUE TWO: Did the trial court commit reversible error by failing to adequately articulate its reasons for ruling that the Nurses failed to meet CR 23's requirements?

ISSUE THREE: Did the COA commit reversible error when it "assumed" the trial court resolved evidentiary conflicts in a light most favorable to the Hospital and then "deferred" to those purported findings even though they were not articulated in the trial court's class-certification order?

ISSUE FOUR: Did the trial court and COA commit reversible error by failing to explain which element of the substantive claim purportedly required individualized proof such that the case cannot be managed as a class action?

ISSUE FIVE: Did the COA commit reversible error when it held that the class-action procedure is not superior in this case because the individual nurses can pursue wage claims for missed rest periods in small claims court?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See RAP 13.4. On May 4, 2017, the COA denied Respondents' Motion to Publish.

ISSUE SIX: Did the trial court commit reversible error by requiring the Nurses to move for summary judgment before ruling on the motion for class certification and thereby considered absent class members' claims on the merits, and did the COA commit reversible error by endorsing this irregular and unauthorized procedure?

ISSUE SEVEN: Did the trial court and the COA commit reversible error when it concluded that this case cannot be certified as a hybrid CR 23(b)(1) or (b)(2) class as a matter of law because the Nurses also sought monetary relief under CR 23(b)(3)?

#### C. Statement of the Case

Respondent Our Lady of Lourdes Hospital (the "Hospital") is an acute-care hospital with nine departments. (CP319, CP357, CP370-371.) The Hospital uses over 100 Registered Nurses to work 8, 10, or 12-hour shifts, but it uses *mostly* 12-hour shifts. (CP370-371, CP399.) Petitioners are current or former Registered Nurses (the "Nurses"). (CR866-869.) The Nurses sued the Hospital for wage-and-hour and meal-and-rest period violations. (CP979-990.) After preliminary document discovery on the Hospital's policies, and limited-pre-class-party-only depositions, the Nurses moved to certify a class or subclasses to litigate common liability questions related to the Hospital's illegal wage-payment and meal-and-break policies and practices. (CP288-935, 938, 943.)

The Hospital's class-certification defense is essentially that operational differences between departments would force the court to make an "individualized inquiry" to determine whether any particular nurse

missed a meal or rest period on any particular shift. (CP226-287.)

On March 27, 2015—after complying with the trial court's directive that the *Nurses* move for summary judgment on various substantive/merits issues before renewing a motion for class certification (RP123-129, RP137)—the Nurses filed a Renewed Motion for Class Certification. (CP1583-1618.) The Nurses noted in the renewed motion that all but one case the Superior Court relied on in making its summary-judgment ruling came from meals-and-breaks cases decided (whether the plaintiffs won or lost) on a collective, large-group or class basis. (CP1584.) The Nurses, citing the Hospital's uniform written policies, discovery responses, CR 30(b)(6) admissions, and other nurse-witness testimony, showed that:

- The Hospital's meals-and-break policies are general HR
  policies that apply uniformly to all nursing departments and
  that there are no relevant written department-level policies.
- The law requires the Hospital to provide nurses with mandatory rest periods on its time, and pay them for extra hours worked if the mandatory rest periods are not enforced. Nevertheless, the Hospital systematically failed to track time for missed rest periods (i.e., track hours worked as required by law) and failed to pay any nurse for any missed-rest period during the back-pay period. The Hospital's own evidence submitted by way of declarations from managers along with evidence submitted by the Nurses shows that every nurse, in every department, missed some rest periods when the Hospital is busy or when patient acuity required it. Thus, every nurse, regardless of department, was entitled to back pay for missed rest periods.

- The law requires the Hospital to "schedule" breaks at regular intervals if the "nature of the work requires." The Nursing Director and the Hospital's CR 30(b)(6) representative admitted that, when nurses are "in patient assignment," i.e., when they are assigned to care for a specific patient(s), a universal nursing standard makes them responsible for that patient's care until they are relieved by another competent nurse or the patient is discharged. This universal nursing standard imposes an obligation on the Hospital to schedule breaks and relieve a nurse of patient assignment to comply with WAC 296-126-092(4) based on the "nature of the work." Nevertheless, the Hospital contends that the nature of a nurses' work does not require scheduling. To the contrary, the Hospital's litigation position is that the nurses have the burden of "finding time" to take breaks when there are lulls in the patient census, or that the law allows them to take "mini" or "intermittent breaks" while they are actively caring for patients.
- The law requires the Hospital to provide a presumptively paid meal period if the nurse is required to remain on call to respond to patient needs while eating. The Nurses contend the Hospital (mis)classified them in every single department as presumptively being "off duty" during their first meal period by automatically deducting 30-minutes time from their hours worked through their "Kronos" time system. Substantial evidence, including inferences to be drawn from the Hospital's manger-provided declarations, shows the Nurses in every department were on call during their first meal period and subject to recall, but misclassified.
- Although the Hospital was legally required to provide 12-hour shift nurses with two meal periods, its Nursing Director admitted in a CR 30(b)(6) deposition that it only provided them with one meal period as a matter of course. The Nurses confirmed by declaration and deposition testimony that the Nursing Director's admission was correct: they were not provided with a second meal period as a matter of course.
- The Hospital discouraged reporting even completely missed, presumptively unpaid first lunches for payment, through its

official written no-unauthorized-overtime-without-advance-approval policy. The Hospital admitted this policy applied to every nurse, regardless of department.

The Superior Court denied the motion. (Appx.53-55.)

#### D. Argument

As discussed later in this Petition, the Division I Court of Appeals, in cases like *Brink's* and *Hill*, has consistently rejected the argument that "operational differences" between an employer's departments and a focus on individual-damage issues in this type of wage-and-hour case is improper: the proper focus is on the common illegal policy and whether class members are entitled to compensation because of the illegal policy.

The Hospital, joined by "Third Party Evergreen Hospital Medical Center," recognizes the COA's Opinion here is a major departure from Division I's meal-and-breaks class decisions in its Joint Motion to Publish the COA Opinion. <sup>2</sup> (Appx.47.) They admit the Opinion concerns the public interest and conflicts with other published decisions. (Appx.47.) Evergreen is defending two separate class actions involving nurses and similar issues and admit this case has "great importance to those in the healthcare industry." (Appx.49-50.) They also sought publication because no other published Washington case "provides guidance to trial courts" on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See RAP 13.4(2).

the "superiority element." (Appx.45-46.) Despite lack of publication, review by this Court is necessary to prevent other hospitals that treat meals and breaks as a mere nuisance from relying on the COA Opinion as a persuasive "roadmap" under GR 14.1 to defend their illegal policies in every putative hospital class meal-and-breaks case. (*E.g.*, Appx.47-49.) Thus, this case conflicts with published opinions, has crucial public interest, and implicates the public's health and safety.<sup>3</sup>

1. The trial court abused its discretion by failing to liberally construe the requirements of CR 23 and Washington wage-and-hour law in favor of class certification, and the COA committed reversible error by affirming the trial court despite the trial court's application of erroneous legal standards.

Washington State is a "pioneer" in assuring workers' rights including the obligation to pay wages.<sup>4</sup> Washington courts are required to (1) liberally construe CR 23 in favor of certification when its requirements are met;<sup>5</sup> (2) err in favor of certifying a class since the class is always subject to the trial court's later modification or decertification as the case develops;<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See RAP 13.4(b)(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Champagne v. Thurston County, 163 Wn.2d 69, 76, 178 P.3d 936 (2008); Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local 46 v. City of Everett, 146 Wn.2d 29, 35, 42 P.3d 1265 (2002); Drinkwitz v. Alliant Techsystems, 140 Wn.2d 291, 300, 996 P.2d 582 (2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See, e.g., Moeller v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash., 173 Wn.2d 264, 278, 267 P.3d 998 (2011); Weston v. Emerald City Pizza, LLC, 137 Wn. App. 164, 168, 151 P.3d 1090 (2007); Sitton v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 116 Wn. App. 245, 250, 63 P.3d 198 (2003).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See Moeller, 173 Wn.2d at 278; Brown v. Brown, 6 Wn. App. 249, 256-57, 492 P.2d 581 (1971).

and to (3) interpret the substantive wage-and-hour statutes liberally to protect workers' wage rights and to protect workers and the public from fatigued employees.<sup>7</sup> The wage statutes work in concert with the Industrial Welfare Act to ensure that nurses "maintain the necessary awareness and focus required to provide safe and quality patient care."

A Washington employer's relevant meal-and-rest period obligations, as well as its payment obligations for missed-meal-and-rest periods, are governed by WAC 296-126-092 (meals and breaks), WAC 296-126-002(c)(8) (hours worked), and Wash. Dep't of Labor & Indus. Admin. Policy ES.C.6 (interpretive guidelines), as interpreted by mostly collectively-decided or large-group cases like *Demetrio* (farm workers), *Sacred Heart* (acute-care nurses), *Yellow Freight* (truck drivers); *Brink's* (armored-car drivers), *White* (counselors or therapists), *Weeks* (police officers), and *Frese* (prison guards). 10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See, e.g., Champagne, 163 Wn.2d at 76; Ellerman v. Centerpoint Prepress, Inc., 143 Wn.2d 514, 520, 22 P.3d 795 (2001); see also Edwards v. First American Corp., 798 F.3d 1172, 1179-84 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2015) (reversing denial of class certification using the abuse-of-discretion standard).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See Wash. State Nurses Ass'n v. Sacred Heart Med. Ctr., 175 Wn.2d 822, 830-32 & n.1, 287 P.3d 516 (2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Policy ES.C.6 (and previous versions) is reproduced at Appx.72-90.

Demetrio v. Sakuma Bros. Farms, Inc., 183 Wn.2d 649, 355 P.2d 258 (2015) (class-action brought by migrant-workers), Sacred Heart Med. Ctr., 175 Wn.2d at 822-824 (collective action brought by acute-care nurses), Wingert v. Yellow Freight Systems, Inc., 146 Wn.2d 841, 50 P.3d 256 (2002) (large-group collective action brought by individual truck drivers); Weeks v. Chief of State Patrol, 96 Wn.2d 893, 639 P.2d 732 (1982) (class action brought by members of Washington State Patrol); Pellino v. Brink's, Inc., 164 Wn.

As shown in the following Sections Two through Seven and the underlying briefing, the Nurses met CR 23's requirements, but both the trial court and the COA used legally erroneous, unsupported, or arbitrary reasons to justify class denial in a manner inconsistent with liberal construction of CR 23, the wage-and-hour laws' purpose, and other appellate decisions.

2. The trial court committed reversible error by failing to adequately articulate its reasons for ruling that the Nurses failed to meet CR 23's requirements.

The trial court ruled that movants met all CR 23(a) requirements for class certification, but that movants failed to show the Nurses met CR 23(b)(3)'s "predominance" and "superiority" elements. The Court of Appeals correctly noted, however, that the trial court failed to: (1) reference the specific evidence it relied on to deny class certification (Appx.4); (2) "expressly resolve conflicts in the evidence," (Appx.32); or (3) conduct an evidentiary hearing (Appx.32). The trial court also failed to provide any legally adequate or supportable reasons why the Nurses failed to meet CR 23(b)(3)'s "predominance" and "superiority" elements.

A trial court must do more than simply recite the language of the rule for its certification order to be affirmed on appeal; it must base its class

App. 668, 668-69, 267 P.3d 383 (2011) (class action brought by armored-car drivers), Frese v. Snohomish County, 129 Wn. App. 659, 666, 120 P.3d 89 (2005) (collective action brought by 162 prison guards), Iverson v. Snohomish County, 117 Wn. App. 618, 72 P.3d 772 (2003) (custody officer), and White v. Salvation Army, 118 Wn. App. 272, 75 P.3d 990 (2003) (collective action brought by counselors and therapists).

decision on legally sound and articulated reasons.<sup>11</sup> Its analysis must be "rigorous." The affirmance of the trial court despite the lack of adequate findings and reasons is in direct conflict with cases like *Oda v. State*, which requires the trial court to make legally adequate findings to be affirmed.<sup>12</sup>

At the end of oral argument on certification, the Superior Court ruled—without making any specific factual findings or conducting an evidentiary hearing—that, although "there are certainly some important class issues that are there and that exist, . . . what happens from shift to shift, from nurse to nurse, from nurse type to nurse type, from census to census and so on . . . I believe would consume and overrun the specifics." (RP406-407.) "It does appear to me that virtually—well, I'll say that all of the other requirements of CR 23 are met," except for predominance and manageability. (RP407.) The Superior Court's written order ruled that the Nurses had met numerosity, commonality, typicality, and adequacy of representation under CR 23(a), but did not meet CR 23(b)(3) because "common class issues do not predominate over individual questions

See Oda v. State, 111 Wn. App. 79, 91, 44 P.3d 8 (2002) ("WEA does not hold that a certification decision must be upheld if the trial court explicitly considers the CR 23 factors. As is true in all types of cases, a court abuses its discretion when its decision is based on untenable grounds or is manifestly unreasonable or arbitrary. The record does indeed show that the trial court here expressly considered the factors set forth in CR 23 before deciding to certify the class. Whether that decision rests on tenable grounds remains a question to be decided by this court." [citations omitted]);

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See RAP 13.4(b)(2) & (4).

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