FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/5/2017 8:30 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 94592-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CA No. 33556-9-III

JUDITH Q. CHAVEZ, KATHLEEN CHRISTIANSON, ORALIA GARCIA, AND MARRIETTA JONES, individually, and on behalf of all similarly situated registered RNs employed by Our Lady of Lourdes Hospital at Pasco, d/b/a Lourdes Medical Center,

Petitioners/Plaintiffs,

V.

OUR LADY OF LOURDES HOSPITAL AT PASCO, d/b/a Lourdes Medical Center, AND JOHN SERLE, individually and in his official capacity as an agent and officer of Lourdes Medical Center,

Respondents/Defendants.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR SUPREME COURT REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENTS

Our Lady of Lourdes at Pasco and John Serle, the respondentsdefendants in this appeal, respectfully request this Court deny review of the February 9, 2017 unpublished opinion of Division III of the Washington Court of Appeals. That decision held the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying class certification to petitioners-plaintiffs.¹

II. ANSWER TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Plaintiffs ask the Court to accept discretionary review of the unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals, contending the trial court and appellate court made several errors. Defendants do not agree review is warranted: the decision by the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with a decision of this Court or with another Court of Appeals decision; the decision by the Court of Appeals does not involve questions of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States; and the decision does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that the Supreme Court should determine. Plaintiffs briefly mention the factors in RAP 13.4, instead focusing on the errors they think the trial court and Court of Appeals made in weighing the evidence. To the best of their ability, defendants answer the specified issues as follows:

¹ In this brief, petitioners are referred to as plaintiffs and respondents are referred to as defendants, as they were before the Court of Appeals and in trial court briefings.

- 1. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining plaintiffs failed to meet the requirements of CR 23(b).
- 2. The trial court provided a rigorous analysis and addressed each requirement under CR 23.
- 3. The Court of Appeals properly deferred to the express and implied findings of the trial court.
- 4. The trial court adequately articulated its ruling on manageability and superiority under CR 23(b)(3).
- 5. The Court of Appeals' reference to small claims court does not constitute reversible error.
- 6. Plaintiffs failed to raise and preserve an objection to presenting summary judgment motions; the trial court properly exercised its discretion under CR 23(d) in hearing summary judgment motions prior to the class certification motion.
- 7. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying class certification under CR 23(b)(1) or (b)(2).

III. ANSWER TO STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendants disagree with plaintiffs' "statement of the case"; it does not present an accurate or fair statement of relevant facts. Defendants incorporate their Statement of the Case from their brief to the Court of Appeals and provide this brief summary.

At all times relevant, Lourdes was a Catholic, faith-based, non-profit hospital serving the Tri-Cities area. (CP 1947-50). During the relevant period, Lourdes employed hourly RNs in nine departments in addition to Pre-Admit (where RNs such as plaintiff Jones take vitals and

information before patients are admitted): (1) Emergency Department; (2) Surgery; (3) Post-Anesthesia Care Unit; (4) Medical/Surgical Unit; (5) Intensive Care Unit; (6) Inpatient Rehabilitation Unit; (7) Same Day Surgery/Ambulatory/GI Lab Department; (8) Observation; and (9) Obstetrics/Birthplace. (CP 319, 357, 384). Some departments operate 24-7, others are only open during the day or when procedures are scheduled. Some departments have minimum staffing that require RNs to be present even when there are no patients; other departments send RNs home if no patients or procedures. RNs are employed full-time, part-time, or on a per diem basis. (CP 1825-36). They typically work 8-hour, 10-hour, or 12-hour shifts.

Lourdes strives to provide its employees, including its RNs, with the rest breaks and meal periods required by law; when rest breaks and meal periods cannot be taken due to the circumstances of an individual shift, Lourdes appropriately compensates employees for hours worked at the proper rate.² (CP 1917-20, 1970-74). Lourdes has a meal and rest break policy (Policy No. 5100.7) applicable to all hourly RNs. (CP 310, 358, 568, 1843-48, 1862-67, 1873-81, 1922-27). When RNs report missed

² Defendants disagree that no employees were paid for missed rest breaks before a specific date. (RP 160-63). Judge Spanner challenged plaintiffs on that argument and claimed universal policy. (RP 51-53, 357, 370). To the extent the Court of Appeals made such statement, it is based on plaintiffs' contentions, not any admission by defendants.

meal periods or rest breaks, the missed breaks are entered as time worked, and paid at the appropriate regular or overtime rate. (CP 391, 514, 557, 562-64, 1905-07). The four named plaintiffs testified they were never disciplined for reporting missed breaks or meal periods. (CP 391, 452, 507, 556).

The supervisors and managers of various departments implement how rest breaks and meal periods are planned, taken and reported in their departments. (CP 484, 498, 1820-23, 1873-81). Most departments also have department-specific orientations that include procedures for rest breaks and meal periods in that department. (CP 345, 361, 1813-14). Jones, Chavez, Christianson and Garcia – along with other witnesses – agreed that several individual factors influenced if they received breaks or meal periods, including: differences between patient flow in departments (CP 548, 1825-36, 1873-81, 1936-45); differences between day, night or weekend shifts (CP 481, 489-92, 1922-27, 1936-45, 1962-68); different managers or implementation of policies (CP 405, 484, 492, 1813-18, 1850-55, 1857-60, 1873-81, 1936-45); census or number of patients and minimum staffing levels (CP 492-93, 1825-36, 1976-80); patient acuity (CP 443-47, 1922-27, 1936-45); certifications or skills of RNs (CP 1869-71, 1857-60, 1873-81); roles assigned to an RN during a shift (i.e. triage

or charge nurse) (CP 481-84, 1843-48, 1850-55, 1873-81, 1895-96); and amount of downtime during shifts (CP 1813-18, 1922-27).

In June 2012, plaintiffs filed a lawsuit for unpaid wages under state law against defendants, asserting all hourly RNs missed rest breaks and meal periods without being compensated. After a year of pleadings and discovery, plaintiffs filed a motion for class certification. (CP 938-72). They also filed a motion for summary judgment. (RP 126). The trial court was unconvinced by their many broad theories of commonality and did not grant that motion; instead, he suggested the theories be further explored through summary judgment motions. (RP 122-25). Plaintiffs filed two more summary judgment motions and defendants filed one cross-motion. (CP 53-66, 68-84, 118-33, 1709-19). Following those motions, plaintiffs renewed their class certification motion. After written and oral arguments, the trial court denied the motion. (RP 345; CP 995-97). Division III of the Washington Court of Appeals affirmed. Plaintiffs now seek discretionary review of the denial of class certification.

IV. ANSWER TO ARGUMENT

A. Plaintiffs Fail To Explain Why This Appeal Meets Review Standards.

Plaintiffs focus their argument on several errors they think the courts made below; they spend little time explaining why this Court

should grant review. Pursuant to RAP 13.4, the Washington Supreme Court considers four factors in deciding whether to grant review: 1) if the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a Supreme Court decision; 2) if it conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; 3) if it presents a significant constitutional law question; or 4) if it involves an issue of substantial public interest that the Supreme Court should decide. Considering those factors, the Court should not grant review.

The first three factors are not implicated here. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with prior published decisions from any appellate court and does not present constitutional law questions.³ To the extent plaintiffs address the basis for granting review, they contend defendants believe the decision involves an issue of substantial public interest. They grossly misconstrue defendants' motion to publish to make this argument.

The reasons for publishing an opinion under RAP 12.3(d) are distinct from the factors outlined in RAP 13.4. Defendants requested publishing primarily because the decision clarified existing decisions, and

³Plaintiffs occasionally argue the trial court's decision conflicts with cases that granted class certification, as if to assert that shows a conflict with other appellate decisions. That a different court on a different factual record exercised its discretion and certified a class does not create a conflict warranting review. As the Court of Appeals noted, the fact that different judges might reach different decisions about manageability on different records is a hallmark of trial court discretion.

provided a state decision within the context of the healthcare industry consistent with the federal law decisions cited and relied upon by the parties and the court. Defendants further argued the decision was of significant importance, particularly to the healthcare industry. That is qualitatively distinct from presenting an issue of substantial public interest that the Supreme Court needs to decide.

Further, the Court of Appeals denied the motion to publish, apparently finding it was not of general public importance. As an unpublished opinion, under abuse of discretion review, the decision lacks precedential – or significant persuasive – value. Plaintiffs did not set forth a persuasive argument for why the Court should grant review.

B. Brief Response on the Merits of Plaintiffs' Many Arguments⁴

The crux of class certification in this lawsuit is whether class issues or individual factors predominate. The ability to answer a question once and have that answer apply to the whole class, a model for both liability determinations and damage calculations, and other options to class treatment all play a role in this determination. Contrary to plaintiffs' contention, the trial court correctly found no evidence that defendants employed an "illegal" policy. Plaintiffs theorize that nursing as a

⁴ If the Court grants review, respondents intend to submit a supplemental brief per RAP 13.7. Respondents also refer the Court to its briefings before the Court of Appeals, as much of the petition for review echoes arguments made to the appellate court.

profession must be considered to be of a universal, homogenous nature regardless of particulars about an RN's job or duties or patients. As the record amply shows, the duties and experiences of RNs at Lourdes vary as much as the patients they treat and health concerns they address. The nature of a surgical RN's work is scheduled and predictable; the nature of an emergency department RN's work is markedly unpredictable. The trial court correctly concluded individual factors influence if an RN missed rest breaks or meal periods, reported them, and received pay. While arguing their theories applied universally, plaintiffs' actual proposals for how they envisioned proving such theories almost all involved individual inquiries. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in concluding requirements under CR 23(b) were not met.

1. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining plaintiffs failed to meet the requirements of CR 23(b).

The first and third identified errors both incorporate arguments about the standard of review. Defendants address that standard first.

Appellate courts review a trial court decision on class certification for abuse of discretion. *Schnall v. AT&T Wireless Svcs, Inc.*, 171 Wn.2d 260, 259 P.3d 129 (2011). A trial court abuses its discretion only if the decision is "manifestly unreasonable" or untenable. *Id.*; *Lacey Nursing Ctr., Inc. v. Department of Revenue*, 128 Wn.2d 49, 47, 905 P.2d 338

(1995); *Moeller v. Farmers Insurance Company of Washington*, 155 Wn. App. 133, 147, 229 P.3d 857 (2010). Stated another way, it means "no reasonable judge would have ruled as the trial court did." *State v. Arredondo*, 188 Wn.2d 244, 256, 394 P.3d 348 (2017) (citing *State v. Vy Thang*, 145 Wn.2d 630, 642, 41 P.3d 1159 (2002). This Court has held the standard is abuse of discretion; the cases cited by plaintiffs do not say otherwise.⁵

While conceding Washington courts apply an abuse of discretion standard, plaintiffs then argue for less deference, even asserting the standard is really de novo because CR 32 requirements present either a matter of law or a mixed law and fact question. Without making a clear point, they also argue that Washington's wage and hour law and cases about finding in favor of class in close cases change the abuse of discretion to a less deferential standard. True, the Court of Appeals "wondered" about that, but did not suggest it had bearing in this case. The Court of Appeals did not state its ruling on CR 23(b) was a close call.

After presenting mixed arguments on the correct standard of review, plaintiffs ask the Court to weigh the evidence and find they met all the requirements of CR 23. This request wholly ignores the standard of

⁵ Tapper v. Employment Sec Dept, 122 Wn.2d 397 (1993) and Pasco v. PERC, 119 Wn.2d 504 (1992) both discuss the standard of review of an administrative agency decision; as petitioners concede, the balance of the cases cited are not Washington cases.

review. If a record shows, as it does here, that a trial court rigorously considered all the requirements of CR 23, the appellate courts will not disturb that decision. *Schnall* at 266; *Lacey Nursing Ctr.* at 47.

2. The trial court performed a rigorous review and addressed all criteria under CR 23.

The Court of Appeals rejected plaintiffs' argument that the trial court failed to make findings on the criteria of CR 23 or did not provide a rigorous review. Plaintiffs do not agree with the reasons – characterizing them as legally inadequate or unsupportable – but that does not mean the trial court failed in its duties.

Appellate courts review to determine if the trial court rigorously considered all the requirements of CR 23. *Schnall* at 266; *Lacey Nursing Ctr.* at 47. This record provides little doubt that Judge Spanner embarked on a rigorous analysis of the class certification issues. He first considered the issue in May 2013, received substantial briefing and evidence over the course of the next two years, and addressed a renewed motion again in May 2015. At the initial motion, he expressed its doubts about class certification but gave plaintiffs the opportunity to convince him otherwise by defining their broad theories through summary judgment motions. With a record of almost 1000 pages, briefing that total hundreds of pages and

four different opportunities to hear oral arguments, Judge Spanner unquestionably provided a rigorous review.

Plaintiffs complain that the trial court did not hold an evidentiary hearing. (They inaccurately suggest the appellate court labeled this a failure by the trial judge.) But plaintiffs never asked the trial court for an evidentiary hearing; to the contrary, they represented to the court that they did not intend to present live testimony. (RP 7). Plaintiffs appear to contend an evidentiary hearing is necessary before ruling on class certification – an unsupported contention that is contrary to prior case law. *Oda v. State*, 111 Wn. App. 79, fn. 4, 44 P.3d 8 (2002). The record reveals a rigorous review.

The trial court also properly addressed each CR 23 requirement. In both written and oral rulings, Judge Spanner explained his reasoning. A review of Judge Spanner's questions and comments in the various hearings and rulings below reveal that he focused on whether plaintiffs showed that universal, not individual factors determined if a particular RN on a particular shift missed a rest or meal break. "Hours worked" as well as the "nature of work" or "relief from work" constitute factual questions. White v. Salvation Army, 118 Wash. App. 272, 275, 75 P.3d 990 (2003); Pellino v. Brinks, 164 Wash. App. 668, 267 P.3d 383 (2011). As Judge Spanner highlighted, differences by department, shift, role and duties,

manager, patient numbers and acuity all influenced whether rest or meal breaks were taken. Further, the trial court referenced the cases cited, arguments, and motions of the parties, all confirming that CR 23 criteria were considered. *See Hill v. Garda CL NW*, 198 Wn. App. 326, 341-42, 394 P.3d 390 (2017) (citing *Eriks v. Denver*, 118 Wn.2d 451, 167, 824 P.2d 1207 (1993)).

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